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Freight, Inc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ROY D. TAYLOR, ON BEHALF OF Case No.: No. 13-cv-1137-LJO-BAM

HIMSELF AND ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY
SITUATED, FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
ON PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR CLASS

Plaintiff, CERTIFICATION

VS.

FEDEX FREIGHT, INC., an Arkansas
Corporation; and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive.

Defendants.

l. INTRODUCTION

In this action for violations of the Catifnia Labor Code, Plaintiff Roy D. Tayl
(“Plaintiff or Taylor”) moves for class certdation pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)
23(b)(3). (Doc. 17). Taylor, a former tkuadriver for Defendant Fedex Freight, Ii
(“Defendant” or “Fedex”) moves to certify a slof current and former line-haul drivers b3
on FedEx’s alleged failure to pyadequate wages. (Doc. 17).eT@ourt heard oral argumef
on May 1, 2015. (Doc. 33). Counsel R. Duanesiftig appeared in pgon for Plaintiff Roy
Taylor. Counsel Keith Jacobgophia Behnia, and Mireya Lleado appeared in person
Defendant FedEx Freight, Inc. Having carefully considered the parties’ submissior]
arguments, and the entire record in this case, the Court recommends Plaintiff's Motion f

Certification be GRANTED.

Doc. 36

sed

nts

for
s, oral

br Class

Dockets.J

ustia.com


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/california/caedce/1:2013cv01137/256594/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/california/caedce/1:2013cv01137/256594/36/
http://dockets.justia.com/

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N N N N N N NP P P P PP PP R e
© N o O~ W N P O © ®® N o b~ w N P O

I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual and Procedural Background

FedEX, a leading transportation company, gaheemploys truck drivers, known
“line-haul drivers” to trangort freight nationwide through aetwork of serice centersSee
Declaration of Jeffrey Scroggin(Scroggins Decl.”), Attach. &t § 3, (Doc. 24-5). Plainti
Roy Taylor was formerly employed by FedEx as a haet driver to transport tractor trailers
and from FedEXx’s service centers throughoutStete of California andurrounding states.
Plaintiffs complaint, he alleges that durirgs employment, FedEx efated a number ¢
California labor laws including failure to pay minum wage, provide rest breaks, and pro
accurate and timely wage statements.

Plaintiff initially filed this action, indivilually and on behalf o&ll others similarly

situated, in the Kings County Superior CouiRlaintiff's Complaint “Compl.”, Doc. 1, Attac}

1). FedEx removed the case to this Court urtderClass Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.Q.

1332(d)(2) on July 19, 2013. (Doc. 1Rlaintiff's class action contgunt alleges that FedEXx: (
failed to pay wages in violation of Lab&@ode 88510, 1194(a), 1174 and 1197 (minin
wage); (2) failed to provide meal and restipes in violation of Labor Code 88226.7 and !
(meal and rest period$)3) failed to timely pay wageis violation of Labor Code §§203-2(
(waiting time penalties); (4) failetw provide accurate itemized statents in violation of Labg
Code 8226 (accurate wage statement); (B)ated Business and Professions Code 81&
seq with unlawful, unfair, and &udulent business practices; d6jlviolated Labor Code §26¢
et seq (PAGA). Compl. at pg. 20, Ex 1. The Condw considers Plaintiff's Motion for Cla

Certification?

! At oral argument, Plaintiff conceded thatrfelonger moves to certify a meal period claim.

2 Both Plaintiff and Defendant request that the Court take judicial notice of numerousedtgiandg

attached exhibits in connection with the briefing on théiondor class certification. (Request For Judicial No

in Support of Motion (R.F.J.N%), Doc. 17 at Exhs. 7-8); (Request Rludicial Notice in Support of Oppositio
Doc. 24 at Exhs. 6-10; (Request For Judicial Notice in Support of Reply, Doc. 27 at Exhs. 2-4). Plaintiff
Court to take judicial notice of certain documents and judicial opinions filed publicly in other proce&idig
Reyn’s Pasta Bella, LLC v. Visa USA, .Iné42 F.3d 741, 746 n.6 (9th Cir. 2006) (taking judicial notic
documents filed in other courts). Defendant asks the Court to take judicial notice of judicial opinionsséerl
and statutory documents that are publicly available on government weBsiéeBaniels-Hall v. Nat'| Educ. Ass
629 F.3d 992, 998-99 (9th Cir. 2010) (taking judicial notice of information on acpubNailable governme
website). The Court may take notice of facts not sultljectasonable dispute thate “capable of accurate al
ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.” Fed2(R.(I5

“Courts also may take judicialotice of their own recordsg¢iting United States v. Author Servic8€84 F.2d 1524,

1523 (9th Cir. 1986)). Accordingly, the Court GRANTS the parties’ unopposadsteqfor judicial notice.
2
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B. Proposed Classes

Plaintiff moves to certif the following classes:

All persons who worked for Defendaas line-haul drivers from January 28,
2012 through the date of trial.

Labor Code 8§ 203 Subclass (Waiting-Time Penalties Sub-Class):

All Class Members who have left their employment with Defendant from
January 28, 2012, through the date of trial.

(Doc. 17 at 2).

C. The FedEx Compensation System

Generally, FedEx combines three modes of payctmmpensate its line-haul drivers

consisting of: 1) mileage-based pieete compensation (“mileage pay”’)2) fixed rate
compensation, and 3) hourly compensation. Kkep&ys line-haul drivers a combination
“mileage pay,” fixed rate compensation, and hourly pay depending on the type o
performed by the driver. The basic task perfainbg line-haul drivers is the completion o
trip—transporting freight from pat to point. (Scroggins Decl.1D). Plaintiff alleges line-ha
drivers’ mileage pay is then based upon a pte¥vsieage determination as calculated base

the number of miles in a trip. FedEx also pdyisers a fixed rate of compensation for cer

of
f work

fa

U
d on

ain

work performed related to a trip, such as lngdand unloading freight or fueling a tractor.

(Scroggins Decl. T 14). Lineahl drivers may alsoeceive hourly comgnsation for certai
activities performed duringr after any given trip or for delaybat prevent the line-haul driv
from earning mileage pay or fixed rate pay.

1. Fedex’s Mileage Pay Policy

Plaintiffs complaint primarily challenge FedEx’'s mileage pay system. Fedg

mileage pay is based upon the completion of giexthined mileages between service centel
calculated by a computer software progra@eposition of Jeffrey Scroggins “Scrogg
Depo.,” 17:25-21:10, 49:13-24, Doc. 17-5, Ex. D)o do this, FedEx’'s computer softwd

program calculates the distanbetween the service centers for each trip. The amount

driver receives per mile is based on hisher pay tier. (Scroggins Depo., 17:25-21:10, 49:

3 FedEx also refers to mileage pay as “trip pay.” For ctevsiy, the Court will refer to this method of payment
mileage pay.
3
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24). Plaintiff alleges, and Fedwes not dispute, that during the course of every mileage
trip, line-haul drivers must perform certamon-driving activitis (“NDA”) including rest
breaks, pre-and-post-trip inspections, Departméfitransportation (“DOT”) safety inspectiof
placarding, and all trip-rated paperwork in order to complete a trip. Plaintiff cites docume
evidence (written policy and goorate testimony) that FedExsileage pay policy is intendg
to compensate everything associated witmikeage trip including all NDA’s. FedEx Ro
Driver Manual, Ex. A, Doc. 24. Plaintiff arguéisat because drivers are compensated s
based upon the mileage they dritlee mileage-based compensation system does not sep
account for non-driving activities germed during the course aftrip including: (1) pre-ang
post-trip inspections, (2) rest breaks; (3) trgdated paperwork/placarding; and (4) limi
delay intervals as required by California laWhe Court explains a line-haul driver’'s nq
driving activities in more detail as follows:

Pre-and-Post-Trip Inspgons of the Vehicle

During every mileage based trip, line-hadilivers must review a Safety Defe
Checklist of the Vehicle Inspection book. (Doc. 17 at 15). Drivers must then detail any
damage to the equipment and check the prewoiis up report to see #dny previous defec
were authorized. If #hdriver finds defects #t have not been autlimed, the driver may b
required to perform follow-up wittappropriate management tietermine the status of t
defect. Line-haul drivers must alsomplete a post-trip repomdicating that all critical item

have been reviewed. Plaintiff cites FedEestimations that it takes line-haul driv

approximately twenty minutes to perform ped-post trip inspections per mileage tyi

(Deposition of Jon Barret{;'Barrett Depo.”), 16:4-172:3, 20:18-21:17, 232-24:7, 26:19-25
45:22-46:18, 48:4-49:15, 63:12-22,:64-17, Doc. 17-5, Exh. F).
Rest Breaks
FedEXx policy states: “all employees are entitled to one 15-minute paid break per
worked or major fraction thereof.” (Declaration i§atyna Naylor (“Naybr Decl.”) 1 5; Doc
24-4, Exh. A). Plaintiff allges that while rest breaks are untd in the drivers’ mileage pa
they are not separately compated. FedEx agrees that itstrédreaks are not separat

compensated, but instead argues #iairt rest breaks should no¢ separately compensat
4
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FedEx further explains that its policy outlineben and where desired breaks should be t3
and specifically instructs employees notperform any work during a rest bredd. FedEX

policy also provides that when amployee is unable to takelegally compliant desired re|

break, the Company will pay a one hour premijmalled a “California Premium” or “CAP”).

Id.

Trip Related Paperwork and Placarding

Before a mileage based trip may commence, drivers must insure that the trailer
appropriate placards to alert otheo the type of materialansported. (Declaration of J
Barrett, (“Barrett Decl.”), at %, Doc. 24-3). Drivers must also complete DOT logs and re
of time worked which indicate whether the qauent is roadworthy. These logs are subm
daily and additionally whenever a driver changes equipment. (Barrett Depo. 51:13-52
12-60:31).

Limited Delay Time Intervals

Plaintiff also contends that FedEx failsdompensate for delays that stop the forw
progress of driving. Plairifialleges that although FedEx €mimly anticipates a 30 minu
drive delay, that delay is includen the mileage pay and is regparately compsated. FedE

however, provides additional compensation to line-daivers at an hourly rate when the dr

aken,

has the
on

cords
tted

18, 59-

ard

e

ve

delay falls outside of the scope of “what is nalimexpected when one delivers freight.” (Doc.

24 at 8).

2. Fixed Pay for Certain Tasks

In addition to mileage pay, FedEx’'s compation plan compensates line-haul driy
separately from, and in addition to, mileagay for activities that periodically, but do n
always, happen with a predictable frequency. (Scroggins Dec.  14@-haul drivers recei\
pay at a fixed rate for thesesks that are not associatedttwmileage, including: fueling
hooking and unhooking the trailer (“hook and drop”). Example, a line-haul driver is paid
fuel his tractor at a fixed raequal to 15 minutes of the hourigte of pay, no matter how lo
the fueling takedd. If a driver “diops” a load of freight and “hooka new load to the tractg
the driver receives 30 minutesogrand hook pay. When these taaks separated by activiti

such as dock work or a meal break, driverscarapensated for a totaf 60 minutes of payld.
5
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3. Hourly Compensation
Line-haul drivers also receive hourly pay for certain non-méeagfixed rate activitig)
including dock work and unusual delays. (Scrog@es. | 15). If a driver must perform cert
non-mileage activities, the drivetocks-in to Kronos, an elecinic time keeping system, a

receives pay on an hourly basis for that tilde FedEx also pays line-haul drivers on an ho

ain
nd
urly

basis for other job tasks that prevent theomfrearning mileage-based pay, such as attending

meetings, hostling trailers, completing DOT reqdireedical exams or drug tests, participa

ling

in driver education or shuttling freight to thal yard (known as drayage). (Scroggins Decl.

15). Further, FedEx also compensates drigefsarately by the hour for significant delay time

(over 30 minutes) due to road closures, weaatheeakdowns or any unforeseen event,
drivers are paid. (Scroggins Decl. 1 17).
D. Plaintiff's Legal Claims

The crux of Plaintiff's complaint, asvell as his Motion fo Class certification

line

challenges FedEx’s mileage pay practices uttt=iWC Wage Order 9-2001 (wage regulatipns

for the transportation indugl;, and Labor Code 88 1194, 1197, 226.7 (minimum wage an
break laws). These unpaid wage and rest peatliaichs are Plaintiff's first and second clai

for relief. Specifically, Plaintf alleges that FedEx consistgnadministers a compensati

policy that fails to separately compensatesdivaul drivers for ceria non-driving activities

(“NDA”) performed in relation to a mileage trimcluding: pre-and podtip vehicle inspectio
time, rest breaks, trip related paperwork, pldicay, and the first thirty-minutes of wait tin
over the course of a trip in vation of California law. Plainffiexplains that FedEx impropern
treats this time as being built into the mileagg piece-rate in violation of IWC Wage Ordel
2001. Plaintiff argues that thes®N's must always be performed order to transport freigf
and therefore they must be paid &eparately, outside of the piece-ra&ee49 C.F.R. 8%
383.113, 383.135.

In addition to the unpaid wage and rest perclaims, Plaintiff has pled claims for

waiting time penalties pursuant to Labor C&$§203-204 and failure to provide accurate w
statements pursuant to Labor Code § 226. (Ddex. A at 18-20). These claims, however,

entirely dependent on Plaintiff'ability to establish an unpaidiage or rest period claim
6
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Similarly, Plaintiff's claims for unlawful business practices under California Busines
Professions Code § 17200 (the “Unfair CompatitLaw” or “UCL”), and penalties under t
California Private Attorney Geeral Act, Labor Code 8§ 2638 seq are predicated on Plaintiff

ability to establish liability fo his unpaid wage and rest peticlaims. Accordingly, althoug

the Court focuses its Rule 23 aymé on the unpaid wage andsteriod claims, the analys

applies with equal force to &htiff's remaining claims.
. DISCUSSION
A. Legal Standard Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23

Class certification of Plaintiff's claims is governed by Federal Rule of Civil Proc
23. Whether or not to cenjifa class is witim the discretion of the Couttlnited Steel, Paper q
Forestry, Rubber, Mfg. Energy, Allied Indus.S&rvice Workers Int'l Union, AFL-CIO CLC
ConocoPhillips Cq 593 F.3d 802, 807 (9th Cir. 2010).

A class may be certified only if: (1) the class@snumerous that joinder of all memb
is impracticable; (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class; (3) the cl
defenses of the representativetigs are typical of the claims olefenses of the class; and
the representative parties will fairly and adequapebtect the interests of the class. Fed. R.
P. 23(a). These requirements are “commamtierred to as the numerosity, commona
typicality, and adequacy requirementsidrris—Wilson v. Delta—T Group, Inc270 F.R.D. 596
601 (S.D.Cal. 2010). Plaintiff bears the burden ofl#isiaing that all fourequirements of Rul
23(a) are meZinser v. Accufix Research Inst., In253 F.3d 1180, 1186 (9th Cir. 2001).

In addition to the requirem&nimposed by Rule 23(a), Plaintiff bears the burde
demonstrating that the class is ntainable pursuant to Rule 23(b)Narouz v. Charte
Commc'ns, LLC591 F.3d 1261, 1266 (9th Cir. 2010). Imsthase, Plaintiff seeks certificati
of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3). To certifyckass under Rule 23(b)(3), Plaintiff mi

demonstrate: (1) “questions of law or facdmmon to the members of the class predom

over any questions affecting only individual mesrgy (“Predominance”) and (2) a class acfi

is “superior to other available methods for thie &md efficient adjudidaon of the controversy

(“Superiority”). Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).
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Rule 23 is more than a pleag standard. “A party sewlg class certification mu
affirmatively demonstrate his compliance with thdeRd that is, he must be prepared to pi
that there aren fact sufficiently numerous parties, commaquestions of law or fact, etcWal-

Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes,- U.S. - -,131 S. Ct. 2541 at 2552 (2011P{Ikes”) (emphasis if

ove

=

original). “[A]ctual, not presumed, conformanegth Rule 23(a) remains . . . indispensabje.”

General Telephone Co. Of Southwest v. Fald&r U.S. 147, 160 (1982)Vhen considering
motion for class certification, th€ourt must conduct a “rigoroumnalysis” to determine “th
capacity of a classwide proceeding to genecatemon answers apt to drive the resolutio
the litigation.” Dukes, 131 S.Ct. at 2551-Zllis v. Costco Wholesale Cor57 F.3d 970, 98
(9th Cir. 2011).

1. Rule23(a) Requirements

i. Numerosity

Rule 23(a)(1) requirethe members of a proposed clasbeécso numerous that joinder
all of the class members would be impracticabled. R. Civ. P. 23(a). “Impracticability dd
not mean ‘impossibility,” but dg the difficulty or inconveniencen joining all members of th
class.” Harris v. Palm Springs Alpine Estates, In829 F.2d 909, 913-14 (9th Cir.19¢
(quoting Advertising Specialty Nat. Ass'n v. FT@38 F.2d 108, 119 (1st Cir.1956
Additionally, the exact size of the class need not be known so long as “general knowle
common sense indicate that it is largeérez-Funez v. Dist. Dirg11 F. Supp. 990, 995 (C.
Cal. 1984).

Defendant does not dispute that Plaintifé hmaet the numerosity requirement, and
Court finds this requirement is met. Whileetbxact size is unknown, the evidence beforg

Court demonstrates that there were at leastlih@haul drivers in California during the clg

a
e
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period. FedEx also employed 609 line-haul driver€atifornia during part of the class perijod

from June 13, 2012 to June 13, 2013. (Doc. 17 at Thys, the Court finds that the numero
requirement is satisfied here.
il. Commonality
Rule 23(a)(2) requires “questions of law actf common to the classHistorically, the

requirements of Rule 23(a)(2) have “been constipermissively,” and ‘4]ll questions of fag
8
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and law need not be common to satisfy the rulddnlon v. Chrysler Corp.150 F.3d 1011
1019 (9th Cir. 1998). Indeed,€jven a single [common] question” will satisfy the R
23(a)(2) inquiry.Dukes, 131 S.Ct at 2556 (internal citation omitted).

The raising of any common question, however, does not susfieeeEllis v. Costc®57

F.3d at 981 Dukes,131 S.Ct. at 2551-52 (“[a]ny competentiass complaint ferally raises

common ‘questions.”) Rather, class represengatimust demonstrate that common point
facts and law will drive or resolve the litigatiomukes,131 S. Ct at 2552 (“What matters
class certification ... is not é¢hraising of common ‘questions’even in droves—but, rather t
capacity of a classwide proceeding to genecatemon answers apt to drive the resolutio
the litigation.”) (internal citations omitted). Tgatisfy Rule 23(a)’s commonality requiremen
class claim “must depend upon a common contentiaf such a nature #t it is capable g
classwide resolution—which means that determination of its truth or falsity will resolve a
that is central to the validity of each one of the claims in one strBkeés, 131 S.Ct. at 2551.
Plaintiff contends that FedEx has a fonin compensation policy which does
separately reimburse class members for nonrdriactivities performed during time worked
violation of the Labor Code and IWC Wage Qr@e2001. Plaintiff argues #h the legality o

this uniform compensation policy presentsmeoon facts and questions of law because

ule

N issue

not

in

the

compensation is based on a standardized aridrompolicy. Plaintiff argues that the common

guestions are:

a. Whether Plaintiff and the classesre subject to Defendant’s uniform
compensation plan;

b. Whether Plaintiff and the classes were separately compensated for all
Non-Driving Activities;

C. Whether Defendant’s mileage pay pfails to separately compensate for

all time worked including Non-Drimg Activities, and whether such
failure violates Labor Cod&81194, 1197, 2699, IWC Wage Order 9-
2001, and the UCL (Bus. & Prof. Code §817200seq);

d. Whether Defendant’s failure to palt wages owed to line-haul drivers
whose employment with Defendantsheerminated violates Labor Code
§8201-203; and

e. Whether Defendant’s failure to maintain and provide accurate itemized
wage statements and failure to keep accurate payroll records violates
Labor Code 88226, 1174.
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(Doc. 17 at 17). Plaintiff argues these coommquestions can be evaluated on a class-
wide basis.

FedEx responds that there are no commontumsscapable of class-wide resoluti
Relying onDukes FedEx argues that Plaintiff must peas more than just “a set of comm
guestions,” but must show that there are common answers to issues that will res
litigation for the proposed class as a whdhukes 131 S.Ct. at 2551; (Doc. 24 at 1
According to FedEx, the dissimilarities angonhe line-haul drivers prevents “a comn
contention” that would resolve the entire litigatioBee Mazza v. Am. Honda Motor.C666
F.3d 581, 588 (9th Cir. 2012); (Doc. 24 at 18).

While generally, “the fact that an employa®allenges a policy commda the class as
whole creates a common question whose answagtito drive the resdlion of the litigation,”
this is not an absolutePryor v. Aerotek Scientific, LL278 F.R.D. 516, 525 (C.D. Cal. 201
FedEx notes correctly that ttf8upreme Court articulated Dukesthe existence of a comm
employment or wage policy is not always stiffint to satisfy the commonality requiremedgg
131 S.Ct. at 2557. However, there, the Court iedd a company-wide policy that commit

discretion over employment decisions to individual store managers did not give rise to 0

issues of law or fact because plaintiffs Haumbt identified a commo mode of exercising

discretion that pervaddke entire companyId. at 2554-55. Here, there m® evidence that th
mileage based policy at issue in this case was discretionary. To the contrary, FedEx
dispute the existence of the company-wideiqyobf mileage pay for non-driving activitig
Plaintiff indicates, and FedEx agrees, thatlEe had a uniform policy of paying line-hg
drivers for non-driving activitiessing mileage based compensatiand that policy was appli
uniformly.

Whether FedEx’s mileage pay plan failssegparately compensate for all time wor

including NDA, and whether such failure usmlawful under the LaboCode and IWC Wage

Order 9-2001, are common questions of law anddadtthe answers will drive the resolutiorn
this case. Se@ntiveros v. Zamora2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91964, [2009 WL 425962], at **}
17 (E.D. Cal. July 7, 2014) (finding commonahtere Plaintiff was subject to a companyw

policy of piece-work compensationyee also, e.g., Stiller VCostco Wholesale Corp298
10
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F.R.D. 611, 625 (S.D. Cal. Apr. 15, 2014) @ag that whether Costco had a policy
requiring employees to perform ungdabor after closing, whethe¢hat policy was enforced (¢
a company-wide basis, and whet Costco exercised control evemployees during that tin

were common questiond)ilts v. Penske Logistics, LL@67 F.R.D. 625, 627 (S.D. Cal. 20!

of
DN
ne

10)

rev'’d on other grounds769 F.3d 637 (9th Cir. 2014) (finding commonality when plaintiffs

provided evidence that “the relevant polgigvere common across Defendant’s Califo

facilities”).

The Court finds that the conmumality requirement is satisfil here because Plainti

challenges uniform policies and systemic pragtidchat apply uniforml to this class @

employees. Whether the Defendant’s policies wagttices comply with California’s specifi

requirements is the type of question tbah be answered on a classwide bd3igkes 131 S
Ct. at 2551Dilts, 267 F.R.D. at 632-33.
iii. Typicality

In order to meet the typicality requiremeRyle 23(a)(3) requires the claims or defer
of the representative parties be typical of treenes or defenses of the class. The purpos
Rule 23(a)(3) is “to assure that the interesthef named representative aligns with the inte
of the class.”"Hanon v. Dataproducts Corp976 F.2d 497, 508 (9th Cir.1992). Claims
“typical if they are reasonably eaxtensive with those of abseriass members; they need
be substantially identicalfd. The requirement is satisfied where the named plaintiff hg
same or similar injury as ¢hunnamed class members, theascis based on conduct which
not unique to the named plaintiffs, and othexssl members have been injured by the ¢
course of conductHanon,976 F.2d at 508.

Plaintiff presents a theory that involves FedEx’s common practice and policy of d
all class members minimum wage for all hoursked. The named Plaintiff was subject to
policies challenged in the lawsuit, and accordinglyffered the same injury as a result of
policies. Defendant has not challenged that Bfisiclaims are typical of the putative cla

The Court finds that Plaintiff Tayldras met the typicality requirement.

11
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iv. Rule 23(a)(4): Adequacy of Representation

In opposing class certification, FedEx argukat Taylor harbors a personal grudge

against FedEx and his present and former histbditigation renders him an inadequate ¢
representative in violation ahe “adequacy” prerequisite dRule 23(a)(4). Rule 23(a)(
provides that the court may certify a class onlytlife representativparties will fairly ang
adequately protect the interesté the class.” This factorequires that(1) the propose
representatives do not have dat§ of interest wh the proposed clasgnd (2) that th
representatives and their counsel will vigorously prosecute the action on behalf of tHe
Hanlon,159 F.3d at 120.

At his deposition, Taylor testified that imas filed several lawsuits against FedEx
“[he] probably would have filed some more if [he] was still working there.” (Deposition 0
Taylor (“Taylor Depo.,”)at 143:8-13, Doc. 24-1, Exh. A). @ex argues that these comme
expose Taylor’s vested interest in continulitigation against FedExyhich creates a confli
of interest casting doubt as to whether Tawyldlt vigorously pursue the interest of the cl
over his own. At the hearing, counsel for FedEx further argued that Taylor’s currently p
but unrelated lawsuit, is real-time evideméd aylor’'s personal animus against FedEge Hal
v. FedEx Freight, In¢ 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16824 [2015 WL 574177] (E.D. Cal. Feb
2015). InHall, currently pending on appeal, Roy Tayland five other named Plaintif
brought an October 2013 suit agaifRedEx alleging that the loss of their seniority status
the company was based on fraud and ratenisrepresentations by FedEXall, 2015 U.S
Dist. LEXIS 16824 at * 1. Citing several cases, FedEx argues that the Court should not {
“a plaintiff motivated by spite, or a grudge, will figiand adequately protect the interests of
class.” Kamerman v. Ockap Corpdll2 F.R.D. 195, 197 (S.D.N.Y. 198@parrish v. Nat'l
Football League Players Ass@’2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120158 [2008 WL 1925208], *22
(N.D. Cal 2008).

4 FedEx does not challenge the adequacy of Plaintiffismsel, the law firms of Westrup & Associates

the Labor Law Office, APC. The Court has reviewed theadatibns of Plaintiff's cousel and finds that Plainti
is represented by qualified and competent counsel. Fflaimounsel has a wealth of experience in employn
class actions.(Westrup Decl. { 13-15, Doc. 17-3).
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In Kamerman the court found that the plaintiff, h@ was the executor of his father’s

estate, was not qualified to represent the clasause his father had borne a grudge against the

defendants for at least a ddeaand had sworn his sons bis deathbed that they would

continue the litigation against the defendadts? F.R.D. at 197. The court concluded tha

[ “it

was conceivable that [the phaiff's] long family history of prosecution of these defendants

would override his amenability teegotiating with [the] defendastalthough beneficial to the

class.” Id.

In Parrish, proposed representatives BerndPdul Parrish and Herbert Antho

ny

Adderley brought breach of fiduciary duty and loteaf contract claims against the Natignal

Football League Players Association in connection with “group licensing agreemen
Association arranged for retired players to Ieemse of their names, images, and likene

Parrish, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120158 at *8. Palrisn his deposition testimony, agreed W

ts” the
Sses.

ith

the statement that the executive director ofNR&PA, also a defendant, could be compared to

“Caesar, Napoleon, Idi Amin, Hitler, &in, Milosevic, [and] Saddam.'ld. In that same cas

Parrish made disparaging comments agaiAftican-Americans—particularly disturbirjg

e,

because many of the putative class membersRhaish sought to represent were African-

American. Parrish also announced in writitttat he would “nevemrmake a deal” with

defendants to settle the lawsuit, warning, “I going to finish this fight no matter how dirty] i

gets or what it takes or where it godsl”

Defendant’s cited cases aretthguishable for several reasonFirst, the extreme leV
of personal animosity present kamermanis missing from this case as there is no remg
similar allegation aginst Taylor here. Kamerman 112 F.R.D. at 197. Second, Tayld

deposition comments do not rise to a level sudfitito convince the Court that he is “an ung

antagonistic litigant” against defendamtamerman 112 F.R.D. at 197.Third, his current

claims and interests inithlitigation are identical to the class and his current and past litig
demonstrates his zealous advocacy on behalf of the class.

Further, the Court finds an additional factor which militates against any conce
Plaintiff is improperly motivated by animus towda FedEx. In a prior suit, Taylor settleg

factually similar case, th&aylor | action. On June 18, 2007, Plaintiff filed a class aq
13
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complaint against FedEx alleging similar unpaidye/&laims for certaimon-driving activities
(R.F.J.N., Ex. 8). The court granted BRtdf's motion for class certification ifraylor I,
approved Michael Carver as class counsel, faned that Plaintiff Ry D. Taylor was a
adequate class representative. [R.F.J.N.,8x. Taylor eventuallyreached a settlement
behalf of the class which released all wiaiagainst FedEx through January 27, 2012. (R.F
Ex. 9). A primary concern in disqlifying the representative ikamermanwas the Court’
conclusion that “it was conceivable that [thaiptiff's] long family history of prosecution (
these defendants would override his amenalititpegotiating with [the] defendants, althot
beneficial to the class.” 112 F.R.D. at 19hat concern is not present in this case.

TheParrish case is equally distinguishia. There, the Court natehat Parrish explicitl
stated that he would refuse any settlement dffarrish, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120158 at *2
Contrarily, Taylor’s prior settlenms, approved by the Northern Dist Court, demonstrates th
Taylor lacks a vendetta against Defendar#t ttvould make him unwilling to negotiate
reasonable settlement on behalf of the proposed ciBessalsdayes v. Pacific Lumber Cdb1
F.3d 1449, 1464 (9th Cir. 1995) (“the reason [a disttourt] consider[s] vindictiveness aj
factor in evaluating adequacy of representaisoto render ineligiblendividuals who posse
animus that would preclude the pdsity of a suitable settlement.”). Plaintiff is an adequ
class representative.

2. Rule 23(b)(3) Analysis

Having satisfied the requirements of Rule&3@ plaintiff must next demonstrate t

J.N.,

U7

nf
igh

~

at

5S

ate

hat

the action can be appropriatelyrtified under Rule 23(b)(3). To do so, Plaintiff must satisfy

two requirements: predominance and superiority.

First, the common questions must “predioae” over any individual questions. Wh
this requirement is similar to the Rule 23()¢@mmonality requirement, the standard is m
higher at this stage of the analysidukes 131 S. Ct. at 2556-57Amchem Prods. Inc.
Windsor 521 U.S. 591, 624-25 (199 Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1022. Rule 23(2) can be satisfie
by even a single common questidnt 23(b)(3) requires conwing proof that the commg
guestions “predominate Amchem 521 U.S. at 623-24Hanlon 150 F.3d at 1022. “Whg

common questions present a significant aspedhefcase and they can be resolved fo
14
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members of the class in a singl@judication, there is clear justification for handling the dis
on a representative ratheathon an individual basisHanlon 150 F.3d at 1022.
I. Predominance of Common Questions
Plaintiff argues his theory of recovery bssed on FedEx’'s policgnd procedures th
apply uniformly to all drivers. He assefedEx does not pay its line-haul drivers for N
because its compensation system, based on wmhileen, does not specifically and direg

account for specific tasks, incliag pre-and-post trip inspgons, placarding and paperwo

pute

at

DA

tly

rk,

rest periods and limited delay periods. Pl#iatigues that these issues, common to each driver,

predominate class wide, over gmgrceived individual inquiry.

FedEx raises two primary challenges tassl certification on pdominance grounds: (
Plaintiff's motion requires a peya-by-person inquiry that isot manageable on a class w
basis (individualized inquiry)rad (2) Plaintiff fails to offera method of damage calculatid
that could be measured on a clasgdenbasis (no viable trial plan).

Individualized Inquiry

Defendant first argues that determining lidbiin this case requires an individualizg
hour-by-hour, driver-by-driver ingty to determine whether there @&y alleged unpaid tim
More specifically, according to FedEx, many fixetkeractivities can be performed in less t
the fixed time period compensated by FedEx. &toee, it is possible that drivers perform n
driving activities while alsoperforming compensated fixed ragetivities. Since line-ha
drivers are not required to record events gElthan 15 minutes, there is no way to detery
how much time drivers spent onmdriving activities and whethdhose activities were tru
paid improperly. Defendant claims that in mamstances the piece-rate pay system challe
by Plaintiff often pays drivers twice as muahk an hourly pay plan which suggests that

driving activities are actuallpompensated. (Doc. 24 at 28).

In response, Plaintiff provides several casesretCalifornia authowt dictates that an

employer violates wage and hour laws by failingéonpensate for all work performed whe
as here, the employer has a uniiguiece-rate compensation pla@aitiloes not account for tin
spent on non-driving actittes and no part of this rate mée used as a credit against

minimum wage obligation. Relying o@ardenas v. McClane FoodServices, .JnPlaintiff
15
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argues that a piece-rate plan shgeparately and directly compensate for each work rg
activity that the employer intends to includetle piece-rate, otherwise those activities arg
properly compensate&ee Cardenas v. McLane Food Services, Iff#6 F.Supp.2d 1246, 12
(C.D. Cal. 2011). Moreover, &htiff argues that any indidual inquiry related t
“‘overcompensated” time is irrelevant becawse averaging of compensation to meet
minimum wage standard still violates the lald. at 1252.

In Cardenasthe Central District o€alifornia considered a fpce-rate” payment systeg
similar to that at issue here. In that case,dbfendant paid employéeick drivers based on
formula taking into account miles driven, numbéstops, and quantity of product delivertt,
at 1249. The defendant employer did not compergi@ters separately for vehicle inspect
time, but contended that compensation fasthtasks was built into the mileage réde.The
court concluded that the failure to compensate for such tasks separately was a violatic
California Labor Code, regardless of whether employees believed they were being com
for these tasks through a higher rate per nhileat 1252-53. Thus, the court granted sumn
judgment to the plaintiffs, concluding “[i]t isndisputed that [defendant’s] pay formula usg
calculation consisting of miles,agis, and products-ardid not separately compensate for {
and post-shift duties. Even if [defendant] comneated to its employees that this piece-
formula was intended to compensate for prd-post-shift duties, the fact that it did 1

separately compensate for thakdies violates California law.Id. at 1253. The court furth

lated
not

b2

)

the

m

on

n of the
bensated
nary

2d a

re-

rate

not

=

found it irrelevant that the piece-rate formuléeefively paid employees a substantially higher

rate than the minimum wage, concluding thatpface-rate formula that does not compen
directly for all time worked does not complyttviCalifornia Labor Code, even if, averaged
it would pay at least minimum wage for all hours workéd. at 1252.

Defendant agrees that it does not separateigpensate for non4gtimg activities such
as placarding, pre-and-post trip inspectiond delay time intervals, but argues that “mile
pay covers all tasks that must be regularlyfggened in moving freight.” (Doc. 24 at 13

According to FedEx, its mileage yacludes the primary taskrfding) and all secondary tas

required for or that facilitate the primary ta@kspections, breaks, kdg). (Doc. 27 at 27).

FedEx explains however that even if its milegapy failed to separately compensate for 1
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than just driving, the other methods of compénsalike “fixed pay” overcompensates drivé
precluding any activity from being compensatedow the minimum wage. (Doc. 24 at 2
FedEXx points to examples where drivers arercompensated for piece-rate work during
time they are paid to perform fixed rate tasks, because of the “generous” amount of
aside for those tasks (e.g., fifdhirty minutes of ‘hook’ pg,” “drop time of 30 minutes,
“activity pay equal to 15 minutes” to fuel, etc.).

However, this is exactly theasswide theory tha&laintiff challenges as unlawful ung

California labor law. As seen in several similar cases, Plaintiff's theory of liability bag

brS
9).
the

ime set

er

ed on

FedEx’s uniform compensation policy is amenaioleclass wide treatment. Courts routinely

hold that proof of a defendant’s uniform pay pglisimilar to the mileage pay formula at is
here, is not plagued by individualquiry, but is often sufficiento satisfy the predominan
requirementSee Ridgeway v. Wal-Mart Stores,.Jri014 U.S. DistLEXIS 126806, 2014 WI
2600326, *6 (N.D. Cal. 2014NMendez v. R+L Carriers, Inc2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16522
2012 WL 5868973 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 19, 2012).

In Ridgeway a lawsuit filed by Wal-Mart trdc drivers who alleged the company

violated the Californid.abor Code and other labor laws bgt paying minimum wage for &
mandatory duties performed under Wal-Mart’s piete plan, the Court rejected Wal-Mal
argument challenging predominandeidgeway 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 126806 at *23. W,

Mart argued that the employees’ minimum waggms required an hw-by-hour, driver-byt

driver, and task-by-task analysis of how each plaintiff spent his workday, and these ing
guestions would overwhelm any common questiddsThe court disagreeahd concluded th3
Wal-Mart's pay formula raised common quesspand these commonegiions predominate
over individual questions of wHer certain drivers receivedditional discretionary pay aft
requesting such payments, or whether someedyigompleted tasks like paperwork during w
time or attended to personal phone calls duldygvers. Accordingly, the court found that
plaintiffs satisfied the predominance regment for their minimum wage claims.

Similarly, the court inMendez v. R+L Carriers, Inc2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16522
[2012 WL 5868973] (N.D. Cal. Nov. 19, 2012) reasd that where defendants’ linehaul

formula applied to all of defendants’ drivers @alifornia, plaintiffs wage-and-hour claim
17
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“inherently raise many legal and factual diss common to all putative class membeyrs.”

Mendez 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165221 &16. In its analysis of # predominance requireme

the court found that defendants’ pay formula, \whaffected all driversn the state, raisgd

nt,

common questions including whether the formaldequately compensates drivers for pon-

driving time. Id. These common questions included wieetthe pay formula misreprese

nts

drivers’ working hours, whether the formula adequately compensates drivers for non4driving

time. The court also noted defendants’ legaestions, such as whether California
recognizes the lawfulness of pie@e compensation for drivers, were relevant to all put

class memberdd. Taking these questions together, doairt found that “the various comm

guestions that Defendants’ ppglicies raise will likely predomitte over individual questions.

2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165221 at *17.

These cases are instructive here as Plamtiffeory of liability also does not require

aw
ative

on

the

Court to identify specific hours that were moimpensated below minimum wage for each ¢lass

member. Rather, Plaintiff's theory is that Defendant’s mileage pay plan systematically

separately compensate employéasnon-driving activiies. Plaintiff maintains that FedEx's

policies are applied to all of its line-haul drigerAnd Plaintiff has provided evidence of th

policies in Lesson 13 of the FedEx Road Drirenual, as well as the deposition testimon

fails to

ese

y of

FedEx’'s Senior Manager of Transportation, #ff6croggins. (Declaration of Duane Westrup

(“Westrup Decl.”) Ex. D, Doc. 17-5). Whil®efendant argues that i difficult, if not
impossible, to determine whether drivers usethpensated time to perform other non-driy
activities, this is not Plaintiff's theory of lidhy. Plaintiff's question is a matter of law, a

whether FedEx may use fixed pay as a credipiece-rate work is an ppopriate class questi(

in light of case law. “All hours must be paidthe statutory or agreadte and no part of thjs

rate may be used as a crediaiagt a minimum wage obligationOntiveros 2014 U.S. Dist. g
** 3-4 (citing Armenta v. Osmose, In2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 314, 324).

The answers to the following questions mmedhate and will drive the resolution
Plaintiff's claims: (1) whether drivers canreacompensation for NDA ahe piece-rate whig
only compensates them for distance and not 8pent on each NDA,; (2) whether the mile

pay formula adequately compensates drivers fkstéhat are not included in mileage pay;
18
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whether FedEx’s mileage pay plan violatgalifornia’s minimum wage laws; (4) whether

FedEXx drivers are entitled to payment ofestdt minimum wages for all hours worked; (5)

and

whether non-driving activities occurring during tireet aside for fixed rate activities satisfies

the minimum wage requirement for those taskbese are common quesis that predomina

e

over individual questions of whether some drs/completed tasks like placarding during wait-

time or hook and unhooking time.

Plaintiff's overall question amamon to the class is whether FedEx’s concededly uni
mileage pay method of compensation did nqtasately and directly)compensate for no
driving activities. As Plainff states a class-wide claiomder California wage law, comm
issues regarding liability predominaieer any perceived dividual issues.

Viable Trial Plan

In a related argument, FedEx asserts that Taylor's motion fails to present a via
plan because he articulates no method by wHarages could be measured on a class
basis as required by the@eme Court’s decision idomcast Corp. v. Behrenti33 S.Ct. 1426
1433 (2013). (Doc. 24 at 16). FedEx claims tnatstions of individual damage calculati
will inevitably overwhelm questions common to ttiass because if Taylor's theory is corrg
class members will be owed for varying amounts of time.

A. Rest Period Claim

FedEXx first challenges whether Plaintiff hestablished a sufficient damages mode
Plaintiff's rest period claim, arguing that calating damages for regteriods is particularl
problematic and therefore not suitable forsslavide treatment. According to FedEXx, timec:
or other similar data fails to show whether, h@amd to what extent line-haul drivers actu
took rest breaks in compliance with FedEx’s policy. At the hearing, counsel for FedEx
explained that oftentimes drivers log a meal brea& rest break simply as “break.” The us
this vague label means there is no way to determhitne “break” logged is a meal break or |
break. FedEx furtherxplains that because its time /st captures time in fifteen minu
increments, it is impossible to determine whethéreak lasted for 7finutes or 22.5 minute

FedEx argues that because Rigihas not presented a workable damages formula to dete

19
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the length of each break, this inguwould overwhelm the classSee In re Autozone, Wage &
Hour Employment Practices Litig289 F.R.D. 526, 535 (N.D. C&012) (in dicta, recognizin
that an individualized inquiry that is unassistsdtimecards or other data would render a ¢
unmanageable as the court would have to ‘eneakdless individualized inquiries about whe
and how often putative class members got rest breaks.).

Plaintiff responds that while he should rme¢ penalized for FedEx’'s failure to kg
sufficient records, rest period evidence canekamined through statistical sampling of D
logs and Kronos time recordBilts v. Penske Logistics LLQ267 F.R.D. 625, 638 (S.D. C
2010),rev’d on other grounds769 F.3d 637 (9th Cir. 2014) (these of statistical samplir
when paired with direct evidence is an adabfe method of proof im class action). Afte
clarifying at the hearing that he does not sdaknages for unrecordedst breaks, Plainti
explained that his damages model is based on an analysis of computerized records wi
members actually recorded a break. If a clasmibee recorded a break, Plaintiff's theory,
liability reads that the class member should doenpensated for that break separately
outside of the piece-rate.

In Comcast Corp. v. Behrendhe Supreme Court held that in order to satisfy
predominance inquiry, plaintiff must present a midbtet (1) identifies damages that stem fi
the defendant’s alleged wrongdoing and (2) issteptible of measuremt across the enti
class.” 133 S.Ct. at 1433-34. Fing that plaintiffs’ damagemodel did not isolate damag
resulting from the accepted theory of antitrimpact, the Court reversed the district cou
certification of the clasdd. at 1431. This Court has further held that damages Waoeicas
“must be capable of determination by tracing dgesato the plaintiff's theory of liability. S
long as the damages can be deteedhiand attributed to a plaifits theory of liability, damagg
calculations for individual class members do not defeat certificatlondell v. Synthes US
No. 11-02053, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27706, 2014 841738, at *14 (E.D. Cal. Mar.
2014);Leyva v. Medline Indus. Inc716 F.3d 510, 513 (9th Cir. 201@8iterating Ninth Circui
precedent, postomcast that individual issues that maystdt in different damage findings
not defeat certification).
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The calculation problem raised by FedEX is unpersuasive. The heart of FedEx's
challenge to Plaintiff's resperiod claim surrounds the methofl measuring the length of
recorded break. FedEx argues flater liability is determinedhere is no way for the jury

determine the length of a rest break recorded simply as “break.” According to FedEx,

primary
a
0

pecause

time is recorded in fifteen minute increments, there is no way to calculate the difference

between a 7.5 minute break and a 22.5 minute br@xc. 24 at 22). However, here ag

Lindell, if FedEx does not reimbursey rest breaks outside of radge pay, it is irrelevant, f

in

Dr

liability purposes, how long each recorded breals.wh Plaintiff prevails on his theory tjat

FedEx does not separately compensate for pesods, liability attaches whenever Plai
produces a computerized recordhaimstrating a recorded breakdnce liability is establishg
(recorded rest breaks withoutpseate compensation), it does moatter for class certificatig
purposes whether the break was mifutes or 22.5 minutes. Varices such as these cong

post-liability damage determinatiotisat do not defeat class cedtion. Thus, in line with th

tiff
d
n

ern

S

Court’s ruling inLindell, if class members “prove [FedEx’s] liability, all the damages will flow

from Plaintiff's theory of liability: [FedEXx’s] unlawful” mileage pay policyindell, 2014 U.S
Dist. LEXIS 27706, 2014 WL 841738, at *14. This Qogrnot persuaded to vary from Nir
Circuit precedent that the presence of witlialized damages, by itself, defeats c
certification. See éyvag 716 F.3d at 513-14 (“damages detemtions are individual in near
all wage-and-hour class actions.”)

FedEx’s supporting case lawagually unpersuasive. Thisnet a case where the Co
is left to determine when rest breaks weravere not taken by mebers of the classSee In rg
Taco Bell Wage and Hour Actigndo. 1:07cv1314 LJO DLB, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1682
2012 WL 5932833, at *10-11 (E.[Tal. Nov. 27, 2012)dopted as final order by In re Ta
Bell Wage and HouyrNo. CV F 07-1314 LJO DLB, 2018.S. Dist. LEXIS 380, 2013 W
28074, at *1 (E.D. Cal. Jan. 2, 2013) (rest breaksoghble for class wle treatment becau
employees not required to record rest breaks)t idNthis a case where the Court is requirg
make an individualized inquiry as to whabk place during the restreak, and for how long
Rather, much like in_Leyva, Plaintiffs damages model seeks to analyze readily ava
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computerized records by compiling all time-siseétat contain recorded breaks. Indg
in Leyva the Ninth Circuit noted that the defentla “computerized payroll and timekeep
databases would enable the court to accuratétyllede damages and related penalties for
claim.” Id.

Here, Defendant does not dispubat there are class-widemputerized time records
determine when class members recorded akbiile FedEx argues th#tere is no way t
determine the exact length of each break, Defendant is free to address the qusg
complication with the precise damage calculation with the trial court during the damage;
Jimenez v. Allstate Ins. C&65 F.3d 1161, 1168 (9th Cir. 2014)Nhether Plaintiff adequate
will carry his burden of proof of alaages at trial, is not the same as whether there is a met
calculating damages classwide. Here, Pitihi@s shown a plausiblmethod of calculatin
damages on a classwide basis through a sedrbBrefendant’s readily available computeriz
time records. This Court’s proper focus at thesslcertification stage is the connection bety
the class wide injury and the damages sou@limcast133 S.Ct. at 1432-1433. So long as
class members here were harmed by the sam@uct, disparities in howr by how much the,
were harmed does not fdat class certificationJimenez, 765 F.3d at 1168. Given t
continuity between liability and damages, the €asimot persuaded that the small differer
that could result from an exactlcalation of each individual restreaks dooms Rintiff's trial
plan.

B. Unpaid Wages Claim

In challenging Plaintiff's unpaid wage alaj FedEx argues that there is no way
determine how each class member spent theiraddyas a result, Plaintiff's trial plan can

demonstrate a violation for any particular lowrorked. By way of example, looking

Taylor’s records for the primary non-driving adfies of pre-trip, postrip, and paperwork

FedEx argues that Plaintiff regulaarrived at work only a few minutes before he actually
the service center with his load of freigfthus, Taylor arrived, hooked his truck, conducteg
pre-trip inspection, completedshpaperwork, and departed witHL5 minutes. (Declaration

Diana Woods, (“Woods Decl.”), at | 4, Doc. 24-&ccording to Defenant, the question thg
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becomes what amount of time was dedicateelatth non-driving activity. FedEx explains t
answering that question would require an individualized inquiry into each driver’s
Forrand v. Federal Express Carp2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55149 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 25, 201
Further, “analyzing just one driver’s records four months of time tes approximately 10-2
hours of work by an experienced-house paralegal, and is noetkind of task that can §
expected to be conducted or reviewedlyier of fact.” (Doc. 24 at 29).

Plaintiff responds that, simildo Plaintiff's rest periodvage claim, time spent on nd
driving activities can also be determingdrough statistical sampling or surveys us
Defendant’s computerized recorddoc. 27 at 7). According telaintiff, federal law mandatg
that line-haul drivers record cam non-driving activitiessuch as pre-tripsn the drivers’ log
Plaintiffs damages model usabese daily drivers’ log coupled with (1) the deposi
testimony of Defendant’s corporate representative; (2) Defendant’s computerized reco

(3) employee testimony to propose a viablehod for damage calculation. (Doc. 17 at 3

hat
day.
13).
0

he

n-

ing

D
wn

tion
rds; and

8).

Plaintiff further explains that kiunpaid wage claims can be calculated in a readily manageable

trial by using experts to prepare questionnairesdquire survey data and/or to evalual
statistically relevant sampling of driver reds, FedEx's written policies, and deposit
testimony from 30(b)(6) deponentBelagarza v. Tesoro Ref. & Mktg. CQ011 WL 4017967
* 17 (N. D. 2011) (difficulty in damages calculatis does not overwhelm benefits of classy
resolution).

FedEx’'s argument is insufficient to defeat predominance where, as here, Taylor
that FedEx has a uniform piece-rate compensaiality that fails to separately compens
truck drivers for required activities. Defendantisgument that Plaintiff fails to sugges

formula or sample that capturtdee daily differences betweeretihumerous line-haul drivers

e a

on

vide

alleges
ate
[ a

is

unavailing.Plaintiff's evidence consists of Defendanbwn policies, a uniform compensation

system, declarations and deposition testimonifexdfEx former employees and representa

demonstrating the time it takesdomplete non-dving activities®

° Plaintiff has presented a methfmt proving liability for Plaintiff's treory that FedEx was required

separately pay for all NDA. Plaiffts burden of proof does not requireaititiff to “back out” NDA activities froni
those activities compensated by fixed rate pay. Plaintiff may prove his case by showing that the NDA
were not separately compensated. It is FedEx's defeas&dlilor was already compensated at a fixed rate fg
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As a transportation company providing comers precise tracking information, Fed
does not dispute that drivers aexjuired to record detailed tinrecords. Plaintiff points t

evidence that drivers record daily activities takiogger than seven and a half (7 ¥2) minutg

length. (Doc. 17 at 10). Citing depositiontie®ny from FedEx represtative Jon Barretft,

Defendant estimates that it takes line haulatgvapproximately 20 minutes to perform pre

post-trip inspections per trip, which is recordedfederal logs and Defendant’s internal fo

including the Driver Vehiclénspection Report form. (Beett Depo. 16:4-17:13, 20:18-21:1

23:22-24:7, 26:19-25, 45:22-46:188:4-49:15, 63:12-22, 64:14-17).Taken together, th
evidence suggests that FedEx drivers cotaplietailed, mandatory records each work
identifying the specific activities performed. &d® detailed records are capable of ang
through methods of statistical sampling and/or other expert review. Thus, individualizé
estimates do not threaten to overwhelm thescénd do not warrant dehof certification.

Moreover, “where the employehas failed to keep recardrequired by statute, t

consequences for such failure shofdd on the employer, not the employeéiernandez .

Mendozal99 Cal.App.3rd 721, 727 (1988). FedEx’s feelin record management, if any,
the difficulty in compiling precise recds does not defeat class certificatioArredondo v

Delano Farms Cq 301 F.R.D. 493, 545 (E.D. Cal. b=e21, 2014) (“Class action litigatiq

grows out of systemic failures of administoatj policy application, or records management]..

allow that same systemic faikito defeat class certificatiovould undermine the very purpg
of class action remedies. Wiglect Defendants’ attacks administrative feasibility.”)Guifu Li
v. A Perfect Day Franchise, In012 WL 2236752, at *13 (N.DCal. June 15, 2012) (|
sampling can establish class liability where theas a failure to maintain accurate records

liability is established for unpaid wagés).

same NDA activities and the defense requires “backing out” those NDA activities. FedEx's defense

provide such individualized inquiries as to defeat class certification. érNinth Circuit has specifically approv
the reservation of individual questions regarding damages after class action resolution of the cominas qfj
liability. Jimenez765 F.3d at 1168.

6 The California Suprem€ourt’s recent decision iBuran v. U.S. Bank Nat'| Associatiph9 Cal. 4th 1
(Cal. 2014) is not to the contrary. While it reversed rigult of a trial that had used statistical sampling
representative testimony to find in favor of a class gblegees alleging mis-classification under California 13
laws, it did not place a wholesale bar on the use of such talticat 40 (“We need not reach a sweeq
conclusion as to whether or when sampling should be available as a tool for proving liability in a class
Rather, it noted serious problems with the size of the sample, the way it was selected, and the application
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Lastly, as seen above, toetlextent that FedEx arguesathndividualized damages 3
not capable of calculation class wide, the Ni@trcuit has explained, “damages determinat

are individual in nearly all wge-and-hour class actions,” atile presence of individualizg

damages cannot, by itself, defeatsslaertification under Rule 23(b)(3).eyva 716 F.3d at

513-14. The Court finds that any potential magadmlity issues arising from the calculation

each individual's damages do r#feat class certification.
il. Superiority

The superiority requirement tests whethdass litigation of common issues will redu

litigation costs and promote greater efficiencyValentino v. Carter-Wallace, Inc97 F.3d

1227, 1234 (9 Cir. 1996). “If each class membersht litigate numerous and substan

re
ons

d

of

ce

tial

separate issues to establish hisier right to recover individuallg class action is not superigr.”

Zinser,253 F.3d at 1192. Rule 23(b)(3) specifies foanexclusive factors #t are “pertinent
to a determination of whether class certificati®the superior methodi) the class member
interests in individually controlling the prosecutiondefense of separate actions; (2) the e
and nature of any litigatiowoncerning the controversy ahely begun by or against clg

members; (3) the desirability andesirability of concerating the litigation othe claims in th

particular forum; and (4) the likely difficultsein managing a class action. Fed. R. Civ.

23(b)(3)(A)-(D).

Where, as here, all class memberdegdtions are based on uniform policies
practices giving rise to predominantly commaguestions of fact anthw, a class action
superior. Further, there is no evidence thaslmembers have anytdrest in controlling
prosecution of their claims sapéely. There is no other pendilitigation by or against cla
members that relates to the issuased in this action. Thus, tfiest two factors weigh in fava
of certification. Furthermore, theris nothing in the record tsuggest that concentrating 1
litigation in this forum would be undesirable tirat a class action auld be unmanageab
Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiffs haweet their burden to show that a class ag

would be a superior methodrfeesolving the litigation.

evidence to the larger cladd. at 41. These errors required reversal bsedhe sample itself was so flawed a
violate the defendant’'s due process rightd @alifornia class ceriifation principlesld. at 945. That is not th
guestion the Court faces wiliaintiff's putative class.
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B. Preemption

Finally, Defendant contends that the Cosinbuld decline to certify a class based
Plaintiff's interpretation of the Labor Code, besatthis interpretation would be preempted
the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (the “FAAAA™Relying heavily of
Ortega v. J. B. Hunt Transp., In2013 U.S. Dist. LEXISL60582, 2013 WL 5933889, at
(C.D. Cal. Oct. 2, 2013), FedEx argues that tret obpaying an additional 15 to 45 minutes
day per driver for rest breaks, would amounattiax,” therefore posipa “significant burde
on interstate commerce” and wdutecessarily be preempted by the FAAAA. (Doc. 23 at
FedEx argues further that if it is required to/ s®parately for each hour worked, this wg
affect the flow and cost of freight in motkan a “tenuous, remote, or peripheral” man
Ortega 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 160582 at, *13 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 2, 2013).

The Court does not reach Defendaupreemption argument. SinCrtegawas decideg

the Ninth Circuit settled this outstanding iesof preemption, clarifying that the FAAAA di

not preempt California state lavas rest periods and meal perio@slts v. Penske Logistic
LLC, 769 F.3d 637 (9th Cir. Cal. 201é&kepealingOrtega v. JB Hunand eight other Californ
district court decisions holdg that the FAAAA preempts Catifnia’s meal and rest bre
laws.) InDilts, truck drivers alleged their employermnied them meal and rest periodg
violation of California Léor Code section 226.71d. at 641. The Ninth Circuit noted the s|
of authority in the lower cots and unequivocally held thdte FAAAA does not preempt tf
application of California’s meal and rest break laws to truck drivdrsat 647. The Cou
reasoned that, like state minimum wage laws, “[a] state law governing hours is . . . not
to’ prices, routes, or services and therefore does not contribute to ‘a patchwork of state

determining laws, rules, and regulationsd” at 647 (citing Rowe, 552 U.S. at 37BJlts thus

! The preemptive effect of the FAAAIs broad: (1) [s]tate enforcenteactions having a connection wi

or reference to, carrier pes, routes, or services are preempteds(@h preemption may occur even if a s
law’s effect on prices, routes, or s@as is only indirect; (3) with respect to preemption, it does not matter w|
a state law is consistent or inconsistent with federal agigal and (4) preemption occuatleast where state la
have a significant impact related to Congress’ deregulatory and preemption related objebtvade’s v,
TransWorld Airlines, In¢.504 U.S. 374, 386-87, 390 (1992).
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expressly rejects Defendant’s angent that Plaintiff's claims related to California’s meal
rest-period laws are preempted by the FAAAA.
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Having carefully considered the parties’ suksions, arguments, and the entire recol
this case, the Court RECOMMENDS Plaintiff's Motion for Class Certification be GRAN]
The Court FURTHER RECOMMENDS that thestes should be defined as follows:
1) All persons who worked for Defendaas line-haul drivers from January |}

2012 through the date of trial.

2) All Class Members who have lefteih employment with Defendant from
January 28, 2012, through the datercdl. (Labor Code 8203: Waiting-
time penalties subclass)

The Court FURTHER RECOMMENDS that Rdy. Taylor be appointed as Clg

representative.

and

din
TED.

ISS

The Court FURTHER RECOMMENDS the lawrfi of Westrup & Associates and the

Labor Law Office, APC bempointed as Class Counsel.

The Court will set a scheduling confecerupon the conclusion of this motion.

These findings and recommendations are subniidtéke district judge assigned to t
action, pursuant to Title 28 of the United 8&atCode section 636(b)(1)(B) and this Col
Local Rule 304. Within fifteen (15) days of see of this recommendation, any party may
written objections to these findings and recomdaions with the Court and serve a copy of
parties. Such a document should be captioned “Objections to Magistrate Judge's Find
Recommendations.” The distrigudge will review the magtrate judge's findings al

recommendations pursuant to Title 28 ad thnited States Code section 636(b)(1)(C).

nis

urt's

file

1 all

ings and

nd

The parties are advised that failure to @ilgections within the specified time may wajve

the right to appeal thdistrict judge's ordeMartinez v. YIst951 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir.1991).

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated _May 15, 2015 [+/ Barkarna A. McAuliffe

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

27




